## IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-01771

**ECLECIUS L. FRANKLIN** 

**APPELLANT** 

V.

KIMBERLY MOORE AND DANA BISHOP

APPELLEES

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi First Judicial District No. 251-06-408CIV

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT ECLECIUS L. FRANKLIN

Myles A. Parker (MSB Jay Barbour (MSB CARROLL WARREN & PARKER PLLC 188 E. Capital Street, Suite 1200 (39201) Post Office Box 1005 Jackson, MS 39215-1005 Phone: 601/592-1010

Fax: 601/592-6060

# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-01771

#### **ECLECIUS L. FRANKLIN**

APPELLANT

V.

#### KIMBERLY MOORE AND DANA BISHOP

**APPELLEES**

#### I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether the Circuit Court for the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, the Honorable Winston L. Kidd, erred in denying Appellant Eclecius Franklin's Motion to Compel Arbitration.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Statement of the Facts

At issue in this litigation are alleged acts and omissions purportedly committed by Defendants Virginia College, L.L.C. ("Virginia College"), Richard Tuttle ("Tuttle") and Eclecius L. Franklin ("Franklin") in connection with massage therapy classes taken by Plaintiffs Kimberly Moore ("Moore") and Dana Bishop ("Bishop") at Virginia College's Jackson, Mississippi campus. Prior to, and as a prerequisite for taking those classes, Moore and Bishop individually entered into contractual Tuition Agreements with Virginia College ("Tuition Agreements"). Moore entered into her Tuition Agreement on or about November 13, 2002, and Bishop entered into her Tuition Agreement on our about January 9, 2003. R. at 53-56.

Paragraph twelve of the Tuition Agreements entered into by Moore and Bishop states as follows:

ARBITRATION: Any dispute arising out of or with respect to this Agreement or any alleged breach of this Agreement (provided such dispute is not resolved by negotiation between the parties within thirty days after notice of such alleged or threatened breach of either party), shall, upon notice by either party to the other party, be resolved by arbitration in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association. Such arbitration shall take place in Alabama. The arbitrator is authorized to fashion remedies, which make the prevailing party whole for the demonstrated losses incurred, including determining that the student should be enjoined from certain actions or be compelled to undertake certain actions. The arbitrator's decision and award shall be final, binding on the parties, and non-appealable, and may be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce it. The parties shall share equally any expenses incurred as American Arbitration Association fees, administrative fees, mediation fees, hearing fees, and postponement/cancellation fees. Each party will be responsible for the fees and costs of its own witnesses, expert witnesses and attorneys. Notwithstanding the provisions of this paragraph, in the event a breach of this Agreement is alleged, the College shall have the option to seek injunctive relief in any court of competent jurisdiction barring further breach of this Agreement pending arbitration. *Id.* 

The Plaintiffs filed their Complaint against Virginia College, Tuttle and Franklin on May 1, 2006. R. at 57. The Plaintiffs' Complaint contains the following nine enumerated causes of action: (1) breach of contract (the Tuition Agreement) by all Defendants; (2) educational malpractice and educational negligence by all Defendants; (3) fraud by all Defendants; (4) conversion by all Defendants; (5) breach of duty of good faith and fair dealing by all Defendants; (6) negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress by all Defendants; (7) negligence (in establishing an appropriate course curriculum) by all Defendants; (8) negligent and/or intentional assault by Franklin; and (9) negligent hiring and negligent retention by Virginia College. R. at 57. The Plaintiffs' claims can be classified into two general categories: (1) that all Defendants breached various contractual and non-contractual duties relating to the education being provided to the Plaintiffs, those duties having arisen from and been created by the Plaintiffs' Tuition Agreements ("Plaintiffs' education claims"); and (2) that Franklin negligently and/or intentionally assaulted the Plaintiffs while he was teaching them during massage therapy classes at Virginia College, with Virginia College being both directly and vicariously liable for same because Franklin was its agent and continued to be its agent notwithstanding its knowledge of Franklin's prior similar misconduct ("Plaintiffs' assault claims").

Contemporaneously with the filing of their Complaint, the Plaintiffs served Franklin with Interrogatories, Requests for Production of Documents and Requests for Admissions. Franklin's initial filing in this matter was his Answer to the Plaintiffs' Complaint, which he filed on June 23, 2006. R. at 14. Franklin asserted his right to arbitration of the Plaintiffs' claims against him in the Seventh Affirmative Defense in his Answer. R. at 27. Franklin's counsel wrote Plaintiffs'

counsel on February 20, 2007 requesting that his clients honor their contractual obligations to arbitrate their claims against Franklin, and advising that a refusal by the Plaintiffs to do so would result in the filing of a Motion to Compel Arbitration. R. at 200. After the Plaintiffs refused to honor those obligations, Franklin filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration on March 19, 2007. R at 32. The Circuit Court heard oral arguments on the Motion to Compel Arbitration on May 14, 2007. See Transcript of Hearing at Volume 4, pp. 1-17 of the Record.

On June 29, 2007, the Circuit Court entered an Order Denying Franklin's Motion to Compel Arbitration. R. at 237. The basis for the Circuit Court's denial of Franklin's Motion was its conclusion that Franklin waived his right to arbitrate the claims asserted against him by actively participating in the underlying litigation prior to moving to compel arbitration. *Id.* In its Order, the Circuit Court further state that the Plaintiffs' assault claims fell outside of the scope of their arbitration agreements. R. at 238. This statement is contained in the Order notwithstanding that the Circuit Court did not address this issue at the hearing on Franklin's Motion to Compel Arbitration. *See* Volume 4, pp. 1-17 of the Record.

Like Franklin, Virginia College and Tuttle moved to compel arbitration of the claims asserted against them by Moore and Bishop. As it did with regard to Franklin's Motion to Compel Arbitration, the Circuit Court denied Virginia College's and Tuttle's Motion to Compel Arbitration by concluding that those Defendants waived their rights to arbitration by actively participating in the underlying litigation prior to moving to compel arbitration.<sup>2</sup> Virginia College and Tuttle appealed the denial of their Motion to Compel Arbitration, and in an opinion handed down on February 5, 2008, the Mississippi Court of Appeals held that the Circuit Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In preparing the record for appeal, the Circuit Clerk did not number the pages of the hearing transcript sequentially with the rest of the record. Rather, that transcript (totaling 17 pages) is simply designated as Volume 4 of 4 of the record for appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In fact, at the hearing on his Motion to Compel Arbitration, the Circuit Court stated that it was denying Franklin's motion for the same reasons that it denied Virgin College's and Tuttle's Motion to Compel Arbitration. *See* Record Volume 4, at p. 17.

committed reversible error in finding that Virginia College and Tuttle waived their arbitration rights. See Virginia College, L.L.C. v. Moore, 974 So. 2d 269 (Miss.Ct.App. 2008). The Court of Appeals reversed the Circuit Court's Order denying Virginia College's and Tuttle's Motion to Compel Arbitration, and remanded the matter as to those Defendants back to the trial court for further proceedings regarding their Motion to Compel Arbitration. Id. at 274.

#### B. Standard of Review

This Court applies a de novo standard of review regarding a decision to grant or deny a motion to compel arbitration. *Comm. Care Center of Vicksburg, LLC v. Mason*, 966 So. 2d 220, 223 (Miss. App. 2007) (citing *EquiFirst Corp. v. Jackson*, 920 So. 2d 458, 461 (Miss. 2006)).

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court committed reversible error when it denied Franklin's Motion to Compel Arbitration. Franklin did not waive his right to arbitration of the Plaintiffs' claims because he did not substantially invoke the litigation process before filing his Motion to Compel Arbitration, and because the Plaintiffs neither suffered nor allege to have suffered any detriment or prejudice as a result of any act(s) undertaken by Franklin prior to the filing of his motion. The Plaintiffs entered into valid arbitration agreements, and Franklin is entitled to enforce the covenants contained therein notwithstanding that he was not a signatory to those agreements. All of the Plaintiffs' claims against Franklin fall within the scope of their arbitration agreements, and there exist no circumstances external to those agreements which preclude full enforcement of same.

### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Legal Precedent Regarding Arbitration

The Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1-14 (1947 as amended) ("the Act") is a statement of congressional intent in upholding private parties' agreements for dispute resolution.

See People Sec. Life Ins. Co. v. Monumental Life Ins. Co., 867 F.2d 809, 813 (4th Cir. 1989). In Mesa Operating Ltd. P'ship v. L.A. Interstate Gas Corp., 797 F.2d 238, 245 (5th Cir. 1986), the court observed:

The legislative purpose of the FAA, consistently interpreted as such by the Supreme Court, is to enforce arbitration clauses as liberally and rigorously as possible. Contracts to arbitrate are not to be avoided by allowing one party to ignore the contract and resort to the courts.

(citing Southland Corp. v. Keating, 465 U.S. 1, 7 (1984)).

Once a court determines that the Act applies pursuant to a written agreement to arbitrate, it "shall direct the parties to proceed to arbitration." *Dean Witter Reynolds v. Byrd*, 470 U.S. 213, 218 (1985).

A party aggrieved by the alleged failure, neglect of or refusal of another to arbitrate under a written agreement for arbitration may petition . . . for an order directing that such arbitration proceed in the manner provided for in such agreement. . . . The court shall hear the parties, and upon being satisfied that the making of the agreement for arbitration or the failure to comply therewith is not an issue, the court shall make an order directing the parties to proceed to arbitration in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

## 9 U.S.C. § 4 (1947 as amended)

Mississippi statutory law allows parties to submit their disputes to arbitration. Miss. Code Ann. §§ 11-15-1 et seq. (1972 as amended) Not only is the resolution of disputes in arbitration allowed under Mississippi law, it is encouraged. *See Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc.*, 826 So. 2d 719, 722 (Miss. 2002) (holding that arbitration clauses are presumed valid and are to be liberally construed so as to encourage the resolution of disputes through arbitration). The Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized that "arbitration is favored and firmly embedded in both our federal and state laws." *Mason*, 966 So. 2d at 223 (citing *Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens*, 911 So. 2d 507, 513 (Miss. 2005)).

Any doubts concerning the scope of the issues subject to arbitration under the terms of a valid agreement to arbitrate should be resolved in favor of arbitration. *Moses H. Cohen Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1, 24-25 (1982). "Due regard must be given to the federal policy favoring arbitration, and ambiguities as to the scope of the arbitration clause itself must be resolved in favor of arbitration." *Volt Info. Scis., Inc. v. Bd. of Trs. Of Leland Sanford Jr. Univ.*, 489 U.S. 468, 475-76 (1989); *see also IP Timberlands Operating Co. v. Denmiss Corp.*, 726 So. 2d 96, 107 (Miss. 1998) (holding that doubts as to the availability of arbitration must be resolved in favor of arbitration). "Arbitration should not be denied unless it can be said with positive assurance that an arbitration clause is not susceptible of an interpretation which would cover the dispute at issue." *Pennzoil Exploration & Prod. Co. v. Ramco Energy Ltd.*, 139 F.3d 1061, 1067 (5th Cir. 1998).

The Plaintiffs, as the parties resisting arbitration, bear the burden of proving that arbitration of their claims against Franklin is not appropriate. *Green Tree Fin. Corp.-Alabama v. Randolph*, 531 U.S. 79, 92 (2000). The Plaintiffs' burden is a heavy one. *Walker v. J.C. Bradford & Co.*, 938 F.2d 575, 578 (5th Cir. 1991) (stating that "[a] party asserting waiver thus bears a heavy burden of proof in its quest to show that an opponent has waived a contractual right to arbitrate").

# B. Franklin Has Not Waived His Right to Arbitration

Relying upon Cox v. Howard, Weil, Labouisse, Friedrichs, Inc., 619 So. 2d 908, 914 (Miss. 1993), the Circuit Court denied Franklin's Motion to Compel Arbitration by concluding that Franklin "waived his right to arbitration when he actively participated in the lawsuit." R. at 237. The Circuit Court held that the following conduct by Franklin constituted waiver: requesting additional time to respond to the Plaintiffs' Complaint and discovery, answering that Complaint and discovery, propounding discovery upon the Plaintiffs (discovery to-which the

Plaintiffs have never responded), inquiring as to potential deposition dates, and being in attendance to observe a hearing on Virginia College's and Tuttle's Motion to Compel Arbitration. R. at 238.

Waiver of arbitration is not a favored finding, and there is a presumption against it; this is particularly true when the party seeking arbitration has included a demand for arbitration in its answer,<sup>3</sup> and the burden of proof then falls even more heavily on the party seeking to prove waiver.

Univ. Nursing Assocs., PLLC v. Phillips, 842 So. 2d 1270, 1276 (Miss. 2003) (emphasis added). Waiver of the right to arbitrate shall not be found unless the party seeking to compel arbitration substantially invoked the judicial process prior to moving to compel arbitration and the party opposing arbitration suffered detriment or prejudice as a result thereof. See Century 21 Maselle & Assocs., Inc. v. Smith, 965 So. 2d 1031, 1036 (Miss. 2007) (stating that "active participation or substantial invocation of the litigation process which results in detriment or prejudice to the other party" can create waiver) (emphasis added); Phillips, 842 So. 2d at 1278 (stating that the right to arbitrate may be waived when a party "substantially invokes the judicial process to the detriment or prejudice of the other party") (emphasis added). The Mississippi Supreme Court has defined such detriment or prejudice as "the inherent unfairness—in terms of delay, expense, or damage to a party's legal position—that occurs when the party's opponent forces it to litigate an issue and later seeks to arbitrate that same issue." Id.

There cannot, as a matter of law, be waiver of the right to arbitrate without detriment or prejudice to the party opposing arbitration. *Century 21*, 965 So. 2d at 1036; *Phillips*, 842 So. 2d at 1278. Thus, Franklin could not have waived his right to arbitrate unless he, prior to moving to compel arbitration, did some act(s) which caused the Plaintiffs to suffer undue delay, expense or damage to their legal position. *Id.* As will be shown below, none of the acts by Franklin which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Franklin asserted his right to arbitration as the Seventh Affirmative Defense in his Answer to the Plaintiffs' Complaint. R. at 27.

the Circuit Court relied upon in concluding waiver caused the Plaintiffs to suffer any detriment or prejudice.

# 1. Requesting additional time to respond to the Plaintiffs' Complaint and discovery; responding to the Plaintiffs' Complaint and discovery.

Upon receiving Franklin's Answer to their Complaint and his responses to their written discovery, the Plaintiffs did absolutely nothing in response thereto. They did not file any motions, submit any additional discovery requests, take any depositions, amend their Complaint, or take any other action in response to Franklin's Answer and discovery responses. Because they neither did nor were required to undertake any action in response to Franklin's Answer and discovery responses, the Plaintiffs could not have incurred detriment or prejudice as a result of Franklin having responded to their Complaint and discovery requests. See Price v. Drexel Burnham Lambert, Inc., 791 F.2d 1156, 1162 (5th Cir. 1986); Cox, 619 So. 2d at 914 (both holding that a party opposing arbitration could suffer prejudice in the form of time and expense incurred if (i.e. only if) required to respond to a pleading filed by a party that subsequently seeks arbitration, thereby possibly leading to the waiver of the right to arbitrate). Because Franklin's Answer and discovery responses did not operate to stay or otherwise delay the litigation, and did not preclude the Plaintiffs from prosecuting their claims, those pleadings did not cause the Plaintiffs to suffer any undue delay.

# 2. <u>Propounding written discovery upon the Plaintiffs.</u>

While Franklin did propound written discovery upon the Plaintiffs, they never responded to that discovery. As such, they could not have suffered any detriment or prejudice by virtue of that discovery having been propounded upon them. *See J.C. Bradford*, 938 F.2d at 578, n.3 (holding that the plaintiffs could not have been prejudiced by the defendant's discovery requests

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Having done nothing following their receipt of Franklin's responses to their Complaint and discovery requests, the Plaintiffs cannot claim that any request by Franklin for additional time in which to submit those responses caused them to suffer any detriment or prejudice.

because they never responded to that discovery). Furthermore, Franklin's discovery sought information directly related to the Plaintiffs' claims against him, whereby that discovery would be useful for the purposes of arbitration. See Tenneco Resins, Inc. v. Davy Int'l, AG, 770 F.2d 416, 420-21 (5th Cir. 1985) (holding that when discovery propounded to and answered by a party opposing arbitration may be useful for the purpose of arbitration, the court will not infer waiver due to prejudice, "particularly when the defendant clearly stated the desire to arbitrate the matter in its original answer").

Because the Plaintiffs did nothing in response to Franklin's written discovery, they did not suffer any detriment or prejudice as a result of that discovery.

# 3. <u>Inquiring as to potential deposition dates.</u>

On one occasion prior to the filing of Franklin's Motion to Compel Arbitration, counsel for Franklin wrote Plaintiffs' counsel inquiring as to when the Plaintiffs might be available for deposition. That notwithstanding, neither the Plaintiffs' depositions, nor the depositions of any other individuals have been taken or even scheduled in the underlying litigation. In fact, a review of the record reveals no response to Franklin's request by Plaintiffs' counsel. Having done nothing in response to Franklin's inquiry regarding potential deposition dates, the Plaintiffs neither did, nor could have suffered any detriment or prejudice as a result of that request.

# 4. <u>Attendance at the hearing on Virginia College's and Tuttle's Motion to Compel Arbitration.</u>

Counsel for Franklin attended and observed the hearing on the Motion to Compel Arbitration filed by Virginia College and Tuttle. The motion being heard was neither filed nor responded to by Franklin, and his counsel did not actively participate in the hearing. The activities undertaken by the Plaintiffs in response to the motion (i.e. briefing, preparation for the hearing and attendance at the hearing) would have been same regardless of whether Franklin's

counsel attended the hearing. Thus, the presence of Franklin's counsel at the hearing did not cause the Plaintiffs to incur any detriment or prejudice.

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