IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CA-01771

ECLECIUS L. FRANKLIN

VERSUS

KIMBERLY MOORE and DANA BISHOP

APPELLEES

APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES KIMBERLY MOORE and DANA BISHOP

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

i

SUBMITTED BY:

J. HOWARD THIGPEN – BAR BRIAN A. CLARK – BAR

THIGPEN & CLARK 16 NORTHTOWN DRIVE SUITE 204 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39211 PHONE: (601) 957-7776 FAX: (601) 957-7769

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-CA-01771

ECLECIUS L. FRANKLIN

VERSUS

KIMBERLY MOORE and DANA BISHOP

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this appeal, a non-signatory to an arbitration provision stands before the Court with no, or at best tentative, standing to compel arbitration. The non-signatory attempts to convince the

· · · ·

Court to compel arbitration of assault claims that are not contemplated in the arbitration provision. He attempts to convince this Court to compel arbitration of an unconscionable arbitration provision. His attempts to compel, at their core, are really based upon an alleged favored position under the law and nothing more.

Franklin also acted inconsistent with his alleged right to arbitrate. Initially, Franklin chose to forego arbitration. He remained silent on the issue from the date that he was served with process on May 1, 2006, until the date that notice of his desire to arbitrate was provided to these students on March 7, 2007, three hundred ten (310) days later. Several facts distinguish Franklin's actions from those cases in which this Court found no waiver occurred. Franklin did not file a motion to compel arbitration in conjunction with serving his Answer. Moreover, Franklin sat silent while Virginia College, a co-defendant, filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration, noticed it for hearing, and attended a hearing wherein the Honorable Winston Kidd ruled, denying Virginia College's Motion. Then, Franklin served discovery on the students and asked for deposition dates in which he failed to reserve his right to arbitrate. This was four months after receiving a copy of the clear ruling by the Honorable Winston Kidd on October 24, 2006, wherein the Court ruled that Virginia College had waived their alleged right to arbitrate by participating in the legal process. This ruling placed Franklin on notice that the Honorable Judge considered such procedural activity to constitute waiver.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The grant or denial of a motion to compel arbitration is generally reviewed *de novo*. *East Ford*, 826 So.2d at 713. Findings of fact are given deferential treatment and were subject to the "manifest error/substantial evidence" standard. *Russell*, 826 So.2d at 721. However, these students respectfully request the Court to follow the lead of the Fifth Circuit and apply either an

abuse of discretion standard of review or clear error standard of review for rulings concerning theories for non-signatory enforcement of arbitration provisions.

The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals has stated that the standard of review applicable to an arbitration dispute depends on the theory of arbitration being discussed. The Court generally reviews the grant or denial of arbitration *de novo*. *Garrett v. Circuit City Stores, Inc.*, 449 F.3d 672, 674 (5th Cir. 2006). However, it used an abuse of discretion standard to review a district court's application of estoppel to decide whether to compel arbitration. *Grigson v. Creative Artists Agency, L.L.C.*, 210 F.3d 524, 528 (5th Cir. 2000). This precedent has been followed by at least one other circuit. *Brantley v. Republic Mortgage Ins. Co., 424* F.3d 392 (4th Cir. 2005). Moreover, the Fifth Circuit had also indicated that a district court's conclusion regarding the existence of an agency relationship should be reviewed for clear error. *Bridas S.A.P.I.C. v. Gov't of Turkmenistan,* 345 F.3d 347, 356 (5th Cir. 2003).

B. WHAT WILL THE COURT CONSIDER?

In a recent case, the Mississippi Court of Appeals ruled that, in spite of a *de novo* review, of arbitration decisions, it would only consider those issues upon which the circuit court first reached a decision. See, *Va. College, LLC v. Moore*, 2006-CA-02064–COA (Miss. 2008).

Yet, this Court has upheld correct rulings for different reasons than the trial court. "This Court has constantly held that if a trial court reaches the right decision, we will affirm that decision even though the trial court may have reached that right decision for the wrong reason." *In re Hood v. State of Miss.*, 958 So.2d 790 (Miss. 2007)(citing, *Aldridge v. West*, 929 So.2d 298, 303 (Miss. 2006)). Further, this Court may affirm a decision on appeal for a different reason than it was decided by the lower court. *See Askew v. Askew*, 699 So.2d 515, 519 n. 3 (Miss.1997)(holding that "a trial court judgment may be affirmed on grounds other than those relied upon by the trial court"); *Stewart v. Walls*, 534 So.2d 1033, 1035 (Miss.1988)(holding that

"this Court will affirm the lower court where the right result is reached, even though we may disagree with the reason for the result"). Moreover, this Court's jurisdiction to affirm an appeal is not limited to those issues raised in the petition for interlocutory appeal; rather, this Court's review may "extend[] to the full scope of the interests of justice." *Pub. Employees Ret. Sys. v. Hawkins*, 781 So.2d 899, 900-01 (Miss.2001)(citing *McDaniel v. Ritter*, 556 So.2d 303, 306-07 (Miss.1989)). It is interesting to note the reasoning of the dissent in *Sanderson Farms, Inc. v. Gatlin*,

Even though the circuit court decided to deny Sanderson Farms' motion to dismiss on the ground that Sanderson Farms had breached the Agreement and thereby waived the right to compel arbitration, the Gatlins contend that this Court can affirm that decision on other grounds. *The Gatlins are correct*.

Sanderson Farms, Inc. v. Gatlin, 848 So.2d 828, 843 (Miss. 2003)(J.Cobb, dissenting)(emphasis added).

Consistent with previous rulings by this Court, these students presume that, <u>if the Court</u> <u>overrules</u> the trial court, the Court will <u>only overrule</u> its ruling that (1) the assault claims against Franklin and Virginia College are outside the scope of the arbitration provision and (2) that Franklin has waived his right to compel arbitration. "...a trial judge will not be <u>found in error</u> on a matter not presented to the trial court for a decision." *Purvis v. Barnes*, 791 So.2d 199, 203 (Miss.2001)(emphasis added). On the other hand, the Court may <u>uphold</u> the denial of Franklin's Motion to Compel Arbitration for any legitimate reason based on the precedent cited above.

C. THERE IS NO AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE WITH FRANKLIN.

When confronted with arbitration disputes, this Court has conducted a two-pronged analysis. *East Ford*, 826 So.2d at 713. The Court first determines whether the parties have agreed to arbitration of the dispute; and, if it is determined that they have, then a determination must be made as to whether legal constraints foreclose arbitration of those claims. The first

prong has two sub-factors: (1) whether there is a valid arbitration agreement, and (2) whether the parties' dispute is within the scope of the arbitration agreement. *Ibid.* The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated, "[t]o determine whether the parties agreed to arbitration, we simply apply contract law." *Terminix Int'l, Inc. v. Rice*, 904 So.2d 1051, 1055 (Miss. 2004).

The lower court did not make an initial determination as to whether Franklin and these students agreed to arbitrate or whether alternative grounds for compelling arbitration, such as estoppel, were available to Franklin. The issue was briefed and argued by the parties, however, and Franklin relies heavily on this argument in his briefing. Additionally, Franklin argues that "By concluding waiver by Franklin, the Circuit Court necessarily first concluded that Moore and Bishop in fact entered into valid arbitration agreements." (Appellant's Br. at 14). This is a big assumption on an important issue, especially if this Court follows the Fifth Circuit and applies an abuse of discretion standard of review. Additionally, the argument is not logically sound.¹ Nevertheless, these students must address the issue in this Reply, and the Court can uphold the ruling of the trial court by finding there is no agreement to arbitrate.

Franklin cannot compel arbitration. Despite Franklin's attempts to invoke the arbitration provision, he fails to clearly establish the basis for his alleged right to arbitrate. Franklin's legal analysis is too general and his application is not fact specific. For example, Franklin confuses and jumbles the right to compel arbitration as a party as opposed to the right to compel based on disparate theories of non-signatory enforcement that have been recognized by the courts. A specific and accurate designation of the alleged source of the right to arbitrate, however, is critical to establish both the standard for the decision, as well as the level of "favor" that the Court should credit to the one seeking to enforce an arbitration provision.

¹ For example, a judge, when confronted both with a complex determination of whether a non-signatory could invoke an arbitration provision and with a simple determination that the arbitration provision was too narrow in scope to cover the dispute, could for the sake of judicial economy rule on the issue of scope without making the initial determination. While this might not be the preferred analysis, it does not necessarily follow that the judge has either ruled by implication or committed error in ruling on the scope of the provision.

Additionally, Franklin confuses and jumbles which of these general "non-signatory theories of enforcement" are: (1) specifically applicable to those seeking to compel arbitration against a signatory; (2) specifically applicable to those seeking to compel arbitration <u>against a</u> <u>non-signatory</u>; (3) <u>available to a signatory</u>; and (4) <u>available to a non-signatory</u>.² Whether intentional or not, this confusion leads Franklin to an application of the agency theory for compelling arbitration which is unsupported by Mississippi law.

Lastly, but by no means least important, Franklin misconstrues and misapplies these students' Complaint. By so doing, Franklin attempts to bolster his varying arguments for compelling arbitration by a non-signatory against a signatory. A careful analysis demonstrates the converse. There is nothing in the Complaint that gives Franklin a contractual or equitable right to compel arbitration.

1. The Burden to Receive The Favor.

Nothing in the Federal Arbitration Act authorizes a court to compel parties not covered by the agreement to arbitrate their claims. *See, EEOC v. Waffle House, Inc.,* 534 U.S. 279 (2002). "Although there is a strong federal policy favoring arbitration, this federal policy favoring arbitration does not apply to the determination of whether there is a valid agreement to arbitrate between the parties." *Will-Drill Res., Inc. v. Samsom Res. Co.,* 352 F.3d 211, 214 (5th Cir. 2003)(internal quotations and citations omitted). "[F]ederal policy favoring arbitration does not apply to the determination of whether there is a valid agreement to arbitrate between the parties; instead ordinary contract principles determine who is bound." *Fleetwood Enters., Inc. v. Gaskamp,* 280 F.3d 1069, 1073 (5th Cir. 2002). Additionally, a party who seeks to compel arbitration as a non-signatory bears the burden of proving a right to invoke the arbitration

² The Honorable Judge Starrett recently acknowledged the significance of these distinctions in *Amstar Mortgage Corp. v. Indian Gold, LLC*, 517 F.Supp.2d 889 (S.D.Miss. 2007). Differing catatories of parties have also been recognized in a recent concurring opinion of the Mississippi Supreme Court. See, *Grenada Living Ctr., LLC v. Coleman,* 2006-CA-00169-SCT (Miss. 2007)(noting this is an area of the law that the Court has struggled mightily to clarify).

provision (this burden is further explained in the sections that follow). As such, Franklin's insistence that he receive a favored position at law is premature.

2. There Is No Agreement To Arbitrate Between Franklin And These Students.

Franklin attempts to demonstrate the existence of a valid agreement to arbitrate on page 14 of his brief. His argument focuses exclusively on the alleged breadth of the scope of the tuition agreement allegedly signed by the students and Virginia College. Without establishing why he has the right to invoke the alleged scope of the agreement, he insists that the alleged breadth of scope gives him the right to compel arbitration. This argument places the cart before the horse. No matter how broad the scope, a party cannot compel another party to arbitrate without establishing a right to so compel.

[W]e will read the reach of an arbitration agreement between parties broadly, but *that is a different matter* from the question of who may invoke its protections. An agreement to arbitrate is a waiver of valuable rights that are both personal to the parties and important to the open character of our state and federal judicial systems-an openness this country has been committed to from its inception. It is then not surprising that to be enforceable, an arbitration clause must be in writing and signed by the party invoking it.

Westmoreland v. Sadoux, 299 F.3d 462, 465 (5th Cir. 2002)(emphasis added).

There is, of course, no written agreement to arbitrate between Franklin and these students. Franklin implicitly acknowledges this fact in his arguments, even if he does not directly admit it. As such, Franklin must rely on one of the theories of enforcement by a non-signatory to compel arbitration of someone else's written agreement to arbitrate. If Franklin cannot establish a right to compel arbitration based on one of the recognized theories for compelling arbitration from a non-signatory, the discussion of scope is moot.

3. The Contract Defines Who May Seek Arbitration.

While Virginia College's arbitration provision is saturated with ambiguity, the designation of parties is not so plagued. It specifically designates who may seek arbitration. The

Virginia College arbitration provision designates "parties", "the college" and "the student". It does not mention Franklin. Franklin is not the college, the student or a party. As such, Franklin cannot invoke the arbitration provision even under theories of non-signatory enforcement. In such cases, the Court should give deference to the intent of the parties. As the Court reasoned

The issue in this case is a rather simple question of contract interpretation. By the plain terms of the contract, it is evident that the parties simply did not agree to extend to non-signatories the benefit of the arbitration clause, for they easily could have stated so. The contract clearly reads that disputes may be submitted to arbitration at the election of either Buyer or Seller. Because the defendants are neither the Buyer nor Seller, they are not entitled to enforce arbitration. As we have stated before, this Court must "accept the plain meaning of a contract as the intent of the parties if no ambiguity exists." *B.C. Rogers*, 911 So.2d at 487 (citing *I.P. Timberlands*, 726 So.2d at 108). Moreover, "we do not override the clear intent of the parties, or reach a result inconsistent with the plain text of the contract, simply because the policy favoring arbitration is implicated." *B.C. Rogers*, 911 So.2d at 487 (quoting *EEOC v. Waffle House, Inc.*, 534 U.S. 279, 294, 122 S.Ct. 754, 151 L.Ed.2d 755 (2002)).

Qualcomm Inc. v. Am. Wireless License Group, LLC, 2005-IA-01827-SCT (Miss. 2007).

It is also interesting to note that Franklin recognizes that the courts have classified arbitration clauses as either "broad" or "narrow". (Appellant's Br. at 14). Franklin, however, applies these categories solely in the context of his discussion of the scope of the arbitration agreement. Franklin fails to recognize that these categories are also applicable to clauses that determine the parties to an arbitration agreement. Virginia College, as drafter of the arbitration clause, chose a narrow definition of the parties which would be bound by the arbitration provision. The arbitration provision refers only to "parties", "the college" and "the student". The arbitration provision does not contain the broad language regarding the parties to the arbitration provision present in many arbitration provisions. Such language could include "employees", "agents", and "affiliates", should the drafter intend their inclusion. The significance of the narrow language of the arbitration provision related to the designation of parties is discussed in *Fradella v. Seaberry*, 952 So.2d 165 (Miss.2007) and *Parkerson v. Smith*,

817 So.2d 529 (Miss.2002). It seems the Mississippi Supreme Court has been more cautious in applying the theories for non-signatory enforcement of arbitration agreements when faced with a narrow designation of the parties by the arbitration provision.

4. Franklin Has No Basis To Compel Arbitration As a Non-Signatory.

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